512

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN E. HARDEE,)
)
 Petitioner,)
)
 v.)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Respondent.)
 _____)

APR 30 1993
 CLERK OF THE COURT
 By _____
 CASE NO. 71,708

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
 Public Defender
 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
 301 N. Olive Avenue, 9th Floor
 West Palm Beach, FL 33401
 (305) 820-2150

TANJA OSTAPOFF
 Assistant Public Defender
 Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner was the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. The Respondent was the appellee and the prosecution, respectively, in those lower courts. In the brief, the parties will be referred to by name.

The symbol "A" will be used to refer to the appendix which includes the decision of the district court of appeal.

The symbol "R" followed by an appropriate page number will refer to the record on appeal in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Hardee, 19, and a juvenile co-defendant were informed against for burglary of a dwelling while armed with a handgun (Count I) and grand theft (Count II) (R264).

Mr. Hardee was tried by jury on the charges (R270). His motions for judgment of acquittal having been denied (R196-201, 202), the jury found Mr. Hardee guilty of each count as charged (R268,269). He was immediately adjudged guilty in accordance with the jury's verdicts (R267).

Mr. Hardee's motion for new trial (R274) was denied (SR), and on March 12, 1986, he was sentenced to serve three and a half years in prison as to Count I (R276), to be followed by an eighteen month term of probation on Count II (R277).

On appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Mr. Hardee's conviction was upheld. This Court accepted jurisdiction of the instant cause on March 23, 1988, based on the conflict between the district court's decision below and decisions of other district courts of appeal on the question of whether or not a gun stolen during a burglary must be loaded in order to justify a defendant's conviction for "armed" burglary.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sometime in the morning of Sunday, July 7, 1985, Lucille Guasti discovered that her house had been burglarized while she, her four children, and her eldest son's girlfriend slept (R169, 171-172). Ms. Guasti determined that the master bedroom, in which she had not been sleeping that night, had been ransacked (R170). Her jewelry, worth about \$5,000, was missing, and her car had also been taken (R174). Ms. Guasti reported the burglary and theft to the police. Later that day, she discovered that a gun was missing, as well as a plastic case containing bullets which was kept next to the gun (R175,177).

The next day, detectives investigating the burglary drove to the Dade County Jail, after being informed that Mr. Hardee and his co-defendant had been arrested in possession of Ms. Guasti's car (R143-144). Mr. Hardee was advised of his rights, which he waived (R145). He told the officers that after having several drinks (R210), he and a friend decided to break into the Guasti house because they knew some cocaine dealers lived there (R183). But Mr. Hardee did not take a gun and never knew anything about it (R162). He thought maybe his codefendant had sold it on one of their stops in Miami when they were trying to sell the car (R150,195).

Mr. Hardee's apartment was searched pursuant to a search warrant (R153). Items of jewelry identified as hers by Ms. Guasti were found, as well as a plastic box containing ammunition (R177). A lid which the thieves had left behind fit the box (R177-178).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The requirement of Section 812.02(2), Florida Statutes, that a defendant be "armed" with a gun in order to be convicted of the enhanced charge of burglary while armed requires more than mere possession of a firearm. Thus, the taking of an unloaded gun during the course of a burglary is insufficient to establish commission of armed burglary.

ARGUMENT

POINT INVOLVED

THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AS TO WHETHER THE STATE MUST PROVE THAT A GUN STOLEN DURING A BURGLARY WAS LOADED OR THE DEFENDANT HAD AMMUNITION WHICH FIT IT IN ORDER TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR ARMED BURGLARY.

Section 810.02(2), Florida Statutes (1985) provides:

Burglary is a felony of the first degree, punishable by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment ... if, in the course of committing the offense, the offender:

- (a) Makes an assault or battery upon any person.
- (b) Is armed or arms himself within such structure or conveyance with explosives or a dangerous weapon.

(Emphasis added). The state sought and obtained Mr. Hardee's conviction under Section 810.02(2)(b), based on evidence that Mr. Hardee's codefendant, without Mr. Hardee's knowledge, stole an unloaded gun during a burglary the two boys committed. Also taken was a box of ammunition, kept in the same place as the gun (R175,177). Thus, the question presented in the instant case is whether a defendant who steals an unloaded gun during the course of a burglary "arms" himself within the meaning of Section 810.02(2), so that he is subject to conviction for the enhanced offense of armed burglary. In answering this question, it is important to note that the burglary statute, unlike Section 775.087(1), Florida Statutes (1985) is not triggered by a defendant's mere "possession" of the offending weapon. In the burglary statute, to the contrary, the defendant must be "armed" with

the weapon. The distinction between being "armed" or "equipped" with a weapon, as opposed to merely possessing it, is suggested in the example cited in Black's Law Dictionary (1968):

A vessel is "armed" when she is fitted with a full armament for fighting purposes. Murray v. The Charming Betsy, 2 Cranch, 121, 2 L.Ed. 208.

(Emphasis added). Thus, a weapon may be "possessed" by a collector, a craftsman, a thief, or a repairman for esthetic, utilitarian, or technical purposes having nothing to do with either an intention or ability to use it offensively or defensively as a weapon. Whether the weapon is operational has no effect on these people's possession since they do not intend to use it as a weapon but only to look at it, sell it, or repair it. If a person is described as "armed" with a weapon, however, the capability of using that weapon as a weapon, rather than as an esthetic or commercial object, is implicit. This distinction is further manifested by the fact that Section 810.02(2) applies only where the burglar arms himself with a "dangerous" weapon.

Consequently, while mere possession of an unloaded gun which nevertheless meets the definition of a "firearm" requires imposition of a mandatory minimum sentence under Section 775.087(2) Florida Statutes;¹ Bentley v. State, 501 So.2d 600 (Fla. 1987);

¹ Any person who is convicted of an enumerated felony "and who had in his possession a 'firearm,' as defined in s.790.001(4), shall be sentenced to a minimum term of imprisonment of 3 calendar years." (Emphasis added).

that same unloaded gun can hardly be considered a "dangerous" weapon with which the burglar has "armed" himself under Section 810.02(2). See, Bentley, id. at 602.

This is the analysis which has prompted the district courts of appeal to consistently hold, ever since the now venerable case of Sanders v. State, 352 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), that proof that a gun was stolen during a burglary is insufficient, standing alone, to demonstrate that the burglary was committed while the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon. In order to sustain a conviction of armed burglary, the state must show either that the gun was loaded when taken, State v. Rodriguez, 402 So.2d 86 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), or that the defendant also had in his possession, contemporaneously with the gun, ammunition which rendered him capable of loading it. Mills v. State, 400 So.2d 516 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Fowler v. State, 375 So.2d 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). Only under such circumstances can the defendant be considered truly "armed" with, rather than merely possessed of, a dangerous weapon.

Turning to the facts of the present case, the state established that an unloaded gun and a box of ammunition were taken during the burglary committed by Mr. Hardee and his codefendant. But the state never proved that the ammunition taken could fit the unloaded gun, making it operational as a dangerous weapon. Ms. Gausti, the owner, testified that she believed the gun was a .22 caliber weapon (R175), although an investigating detective offered hearsay testimony that she told him it was a .25 caliber gun (R165). The prosecutor stated that the ammunition was .22

and .25 caliber (R199), but no evidence to this effect was ever introduced, nor did anyone ever testify that the ammunition could have been loaded into and fired from the gun. And, contrary to the trial court's misconception (R200), the fact that the ammunition was introduced into evidence so the jury could examine it could not substitute for proof of its caliber. See, McDaniels v. State, 388 So.2d 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) [fact that shotgun was in evidence did not relieve state burden of proving it was shorter than legally permitted.]


Therefore, the state failed to prove that the ammunition taken during the burglary fit the gun and was thus capable of transforming it into a dangerous weapon with which the burglars armed themselves. The evidence was insufficient to establish that Mr. Hardee was guilty of armed burglary, and his conviction for that offense must be vacated.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and the authorities cited, Mr. Hardee respectfully requests that this Court reverse the judgment of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and remand this cause for reconsideration on the basis that in order to establish a defendant's guilt of armed burglary where a firearm is stolen during the burglary, the state must prove either that the gun was loaded or that the defendant contemporaneously possessed ammunition capable of being fired from the gun.