## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MARDI LEVEY COHEN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court. The Respondent was the appellee and the defendant, respectively in the lower courts.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the State.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

All Emphasis has been added by Petitioner unless other-

wise indicated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts as found on pages two (2) through (4) of Petitioner's Brief on the Merits to the extent that it is non-argumentative and non-conclusory and would make the following additions and/or clarifications:

> 1. Mrs. Guasti, the victim, discovered her gun (Barretta) and ammunition were missing from the top drawer of her husband's armoire the afternoon after she reported her jewelry and car were stolen to the police (R 175).

> 2. The gun and bullets were kept in the same drawer in her husband's armoire (R 175).

3. She contacted the police the next morning concerning the stolen gun and ammunition (R 176).

4. The basis for Appellant's Judgment of Acquittal as preserved on the record was that the State did not prove the firearm was operable (R 196).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner seeks to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court under Article V Section 3(b)(3) of the Constitution of the State of Florida and <u>Fla.R.App.P</u>. 9.030(a) (iv) on the ground that this decision allegedly conflicts with decisions of other appellate courts such as, <u>Sanders v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, on the same question of law. However, no basis for conflict certiorari jurisdiction exists insofar as the cases petitioner relies on for same are legally consistent with the decisions over which review is sought.

Pursuant to Section 812.02(2) <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1983) a defendant convicted of armed burglary with a dangerous weapon is guilty of an enhanced burglary. Thus, a defendant who steals an unloaded gun and its ammunition during the commission of a burglary is subject to conviction for the enhanced offense of armed burglary as the gun can be easily made operable. <u>Mills v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 516 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

-3-

## ISSUE

THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AS TO WHETHER THE STATE MUST PROVE THAT A GUN STOLEN DURING A BUR-GLARY WAS LOADED OR THE DEFENDANT HAD AMMUNITION WHICH FIT IT IN ORDER TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR ARMED BURGLARY.

#### ARGUMENT

Initially, the State asserts that this Honorable Court lacks jurisdiction to review the decision below. Here, Petitioner has failed to show a conflict among the appellate court decisions, as in fact, none exists. The decisions of <u>Sanders v.</u> <u>State</u>, 352 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), <u>State v. Rodriquez</u>, 402 So.2d 86 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) and <u>Mills v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 516 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) are consistent with each other as they apply one rule of law in the context of three distinct factual scenarios.<sup>1</sup> Again, the State maintains that this Honorble Court must decline to accept jurisdiction in this cause.

However, Respondent will nonetheless address the merits of this case. In the instant case the prosecution proved at trial that Petitioner's co-defendant stole a gun and ammunition during a burglary they both committed. The victim testified that

In fact in <u>Mills v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the court noted that the decisions of <u>Fowler v. State</u>, 375 So.2d 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979) and <u>State v. Dopson</u>, 523 So.2d 644 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975) are not inconsistent with <u>Sanders v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and that its decision in <u>Mills</u> can also be reconciled with <u>Sanders</u> as <u>Sanders</u> did not state whether the weapon in the defendant's possession was loaded or unloaded.



the gun and its bullets were kept together in the same dresser drawer (R 175). The evidence revealed that the gun and bullets were taken together. The trial court in denying Petitioner's motion for a directed verdict relied on <u>Mills v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and held that since the State proved that the gun and ammunition were taken from the same drawer the State had established its prima facie case.

The issue before the Fourth District Court of Appeals and which is now before this Honorable Court is whether a defendant who steals an unloaded gun and its ammunition during the course of a burglary "arms" himself within the meaning of Section 810.02(2), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1983) so that he is subject to conviction for the enhanced offense of armed burglary. The Fourth District relying on the reasoning applied in this Court's decision in <u>Bentley v. State</u>, 501 So.2d 600 (Fla. 1987), answered this question in the affirmative. The Fourth District reasoned that an unloaded gun with readily accessible bullets constitutes a dangerous weapon under the statute. Accordingly, although the gun may be unloaded the bullets could very easily have been loaded into the gun thus making it operable.

In <u>Bentley v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the question was presented to this Court "whether an unloaded firearm without proof of readily available ammunition, ... invokes the three-year mandatory sentencing provision of Section 775.087(2), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1983)". Although this is not the same issue as is before this

-5-

court now, the reasoning of that decision is persuasive to an analysis of the issue, <u>sub judice</u>. In <u>Bentley</u>, this Court determined that whether a firearm is loaded or unloaded is not material to the issue of whether a defendant convicted of a burglary had in his possession a firearm so as to impose a mandatory minimum sentence pursuant to Section 775.087(2). The <u>Bentley</u> decision disapproved of <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) which required that the State had to prove that the firearm in a defendant's possession was operable.

Petitioner attempts to distinguish Bentley by drawing a distinction between mere "possession" of a dangerous weapon pursuant to Section 775.087(1) and "arming" oneself with a dangerous weapon pursuant to Section 810.02(2). However, that distinction is merely an insignificant semantic distinction. Here both statutes have the same dual purpose, they seek to impose a penalty for the use or attempted use of a dangerous weapon during the commission of a felony, Section 775.087 penalizes those who carry, display, use, threaten or attempt to use any weapon or firearm during the commission of a felony and Section 810.02 penalizes those who arm themselves with a deadly weapon during commission of a burglary. Both statutes penalize a proscribed violent act, that is, the use of a dangerous weapon during the commission of a felony. Thus, Petitioner's argument that "armed" means to fight and "possession" means something to "look at ... sell ... or ... repair ..." is simply a play-on-

-6-

words (Respondent's Brief at page 7).

There certainly is no question that an unloaded gun without any available ammunition, stolen during a burglary is insufficient proof to demonstrate that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon when the burglary occurred. <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 352 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). However, where the unloaded gun is stolen along with the ammunition, there is sufficient proof to demonstrate that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon, considering the ease with which it takes to load the gun. <u>Mills v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 516 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); <u>Fowler</u> v. State, 375 So.2d 879 (fla. 2d DCA 1979).

In <u>Mills v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, defendant was convicted of burglary of a dwelling which was enhanced to a first degree felony as he was armed during the burglary. Factually, defendant and his co-defendant burglarized a home and stole a shotgun and a box of shotgun shells. The defendant had the ability to load the gun while he was in the house but did not do so until he left the house. The Mills Court made the following observations:

> It is clear that under the facts of this case, as found by the jury, appellant had the ability at any time during the burglary and after he had possession of the shotgun and the shells, to insert the shells and make use of the weapon. Under Fowler and Dopson, if he had loaded the weapon, he would be considered armed. Is he any less armed merely because he carries the shells separate from the weapon? Would he be less armed if he had brought the shotgun or another firearm with him, keeping the shells handy in his

> > -7-

pocket? Once the shotgun and the shells were united in appellant's possession, he had the capacity to use the weapon by the mere expediency of inserting one or more shells, and thereby commit the violent act the statute seeks to proscribe.

400 So.2d at 518. The court then held that pursuant to Section 810.02(2) defendant had armed himself with a dangerous weapon.

In the instant case, the Fourth District like the <u>Mills</u> court noted that an unloaded gun with available ammunition close at hand is the same as a loaded dangerous weapon as prescribed in Section 810.02(2). In <u>Hardee</u> the gun was taken from the same drawer as the bullets and they were taken together. This was sufficient proof to demonstrate that Petitioner was armed with a deadly weapon.

Futhermore, Petitioner's argument that there was no direct proof that the bullets stolen actually fit the gun which was stolen, is flawed as there was certainly sufficient circumstantial evidence that the bullets which were with the gun in the dresser drawer were the bullets which fit the gun. Thus, a jury question was created.

In accordance with <u>Mills v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Sanders</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, there is no basis for this Court's jurisdiction as no conflict in fact exists. Nonetheless, the decision of the Fourth District in <u>Hardee v. State</u>, and the decision of the Fifth District in Mills v. State, must be affirmed by this Court.

-8-

## CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing analysis and authorities cited herein, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court decline to accept jurisdiction of the cause; and in the alternative, to affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.